TGEGKXGF."; 445 H235"37 65 56. "Vj qo cu'F 0J cm"Engtm"Uwrtgo g"Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-516 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.2006-CF-005222

LIONEL MICHAEL MILLER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JAMES L.DRISCOLL JR.,
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0078840
ASSISTANT CCRC
driscoll@ccmr.state.fl.us

DAVID DIXON HENDRY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0160016 ASSISTANT CCRC hendry@ccmr.state.fl.us

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Miller was charged by indictment with one count of first degree murder, one count of burglary with an assault or battery, one count of attempted first degree murder and one count of robbery with a deadly weapon. The jury found Mr. Miller guilty as charged. Mr. Miller proceeded to a penalty phase. The jury recommended death by a vote of 11 to 1.

Following a *Spencer* hearing, the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orange County, Florida, imposed a death sentence. This Court affirmed the conviction and death sentence on appeal. *Miller v. State*, 42 So.3d 204 Fla. 2010). Mr. Miller filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the Supreme Court of Florida. The United States Supreme Court denied the petition on January 10, 2011. *Miller v. Florida*, 131 S.Ct. 935 (2011).

Following CCRC-M's appointment, Mr. Miller filed a motion for a PET Scan. On October 12, 2011, the postconviction court granted the motion. After the postconviction court resolved the issues concerning transportation, the National PET Scan Center performed a PET Scan on Mr. Miller's brain.

Mr. Miller filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851. The State filed a Response. The postconviction court held a Case Management Conference on April 17, 2012. The postconviction court set an evidentiary hearing for the week of

August 20, 2012. Mr. Miller filed a motion to waive his presence at the evidentiary hearing, which the postconviction court denied. Prior to the April evidentiary hearing, the State filed a motion to continue and a motion for discovery. The postconviction court continued the evidentiary hearing to December 17, 2012 and later granted the motion for discovery.

The postconviction court held the evidentiary hearing on December 17, 18, and 19, 2012. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Miller and the State called a number of witnesses. Their testimony is discussed throughout this brief and a summary of some of the important testimony is presented here.

Dr. Glenn Ross Caddy

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Miller called Dr. Glenn Ross Caddy as an expert witness to provide testimony on the mitigation that the relevant sentencer's were denied at trial because of counsel's ineffectiveness. Dr. Caddy testified via satellite from Australia. (Vol. VI PCR. 911).

Dr. Caddy has a PhD in clinical psychology from the University of South Wales. (Vol. VI PCR. 911). Dr. Caddy received post-doctoral training at the University of South Wales Hospital. (Vol. VI PCR. 911). He has also obtained significant and ongoing professional training. (Vol. VI PCR. 911). One area that Dr. Caddy was trained in was neuropsychology which he obtained through the Reitan Institute.(Vol. VI PCR. 911;

transcript states phonetically "right hand").

Dr. Caddy is licensed by the State of Florida in psychology and as a rehabilitation specialist. Dr. Caddy is board certified by and holds fellowship status in a number of prestigious organizations. (Vol. VI PCR. 911). Currently, Dr. Caddy's psychology practice includes work in forensic and clinical neuropsychology and psychology. (Vol. VI PCR. 913). He has been qualified as an expert approximately 1,500 to 2,000 times. (Vol. VI PCR. 913). Dr. Caddy has never failed to qualify as an expert in his field. (Vol. VI PCR. 913). Without objection, the trial court accepted Dr. Caddy as an expert in neuropsychology and forensic psychology. (Vol. VI PCR. 913).

Dr. Caddy examined Mr. Miller's overall psychological functioning, emotional background and development and behavioral relationships. (Vol. VI PCR. 914). Dr. Caddy reviewed documents as part of the evaluation. Dr. Caddy met with Mr. Miller on two occasions where Mr. Miller was incarcerated. (Vol. VI PCR. 914-15). He obtained a social history and learned of the trauma and deprivation that Mr. Miller suffered. (Vol. VI PCR. 915-16).

The social history that Dr. Caddy obtained was extensive. For the first five or six years of Mr. Miller's life his mother was "profoundly alcoholic" and his step father was "extremely abusive." (Vol. VI PCR. 915). Mr. Miller's mother became pregnant with Mr. Miller by another man while her husband, the step-

father, was in prison. When the step-father returned he discovered that Mr. Miller was born out-of-wedlock. (Vol. I PCR. 114). This "set the stage for what became an extremely abusive and disconnected relationship." (Vol. VI PCR. 915).

Mr. Miller's mother "was incapable of managing the well-being of [Mr. Miller]." (Vol. VI PCR. 915). Mr. Miller's mother was very young, approximately 12 or 13, when she became pregnant with Mr. Miller's older brothers. (Vol. VI PCR. 915). Mr. Miller "was recurrently thrown out of the home for days on end from age four on." (Vol. VI PCR. 915). He sometimes would get to sleep in the basement but oftentimes he would have to sleep under houses. (Vol. VI PCR. 916). "[T]his was a very early traumatic early existence." (Vol. VI PCR. 916). From about age 7 to 12 he lived with his step-grandmother who showed "some love and tenderness to him, but she died when he was 12 years of age and that ended that relationship." (Vol. VI PCR. 916). Mr. Miller did not have any positive role models growing up other than his step-grandmother. The other adult role models in his life were "profoundly dysfunctional." (Vol. VI PCR. 916).

The circumstances of Mr. Miller's early life greatly affected him. Mr. Miller "did not grow up with a pattern of routine scheduling. He did not grow up with an image of appropriate ethical or moral values. He didn't know anything because the entire system that he operated within was truly

pathological." (Vol. VI PCR. 917). Dr. Caddy recounted:

His stepfather often beat his mother. She was often unavailable or not around. She too was often out of the home . . . and so if there were any images that he had of vague normalcy, there was a period of time when he used to spend a lot of time about age 12 in pool rooms where he's spend all night. And so some of the people who were in the pool room were people he interacted with. And most of them did not abuse him.

(Vol. VI PCR. 917). It was critical for Mr. Miller's later development that growing up he had structure and learn morality. (Vol. VI PCR. 917). He was so deprived growing up that when he needed clothes he had to steal them. (Vol. VI PCR. 917). He did not have the opportunity to learn appropriate moral conduct.

Dr. Caddy described Mr. Miller's early life as "feral." (Vol. VI PCR. 918). His adolescence "had the same quality about then except when he was incarcerated in reform school." (Vol. VI PCR. 918). As Mr. Miller spent these years virtually unparented, school provided little refuge; Mr. Miller was routinely kicked out of class because he was late or because he did not have the appropriate clothes. (Vol. VI PCR. 918). Mr. Miller "did not comprehend the obligations of discipline in the classroom." (Vol. VI PCR. 918). "[B]eing in school meant nothing to him because he wasn't a normal kid and he couldn't relate to normal kids . . . he was basically a hobo as a child. And he acknowledged it. He simply didn't have many principles or ethics. It was all about how to survive. He described himself as having a survival

morality. You do whatever you have to do." (Vol. VI PCR. 918).

Mr. Miller did not have adults and parents to pass on ethics and values to him. (Vol. VI PCR. 919).

Mr. Miller commented to Dr. Caddy "that he has always known that there's a lot of hate in him and that he blames his mother and stepfather for what they failed to do." (Vol.VI PCR. 919). He also blamed people "who as a child took advantage of him after he was no longer at home. He talked about going from one pedophile to another." (Vol. VI PCR. 919). Dr. Caddy explained that this affected "not just his development but his entire personality structure. Much later on his disgust at being abused by men when he wasn't homosexually oriented but when he needed something . . . would lead him to have profound impulse control difficulties when he became enraged if, as an adult, somebody tried to . . . hit on him sexually." (Vol. VI PCR. 919).Mr. Miller was sent to reform school. (Vol. VI PCR. 920). Mr. Miller was arrested in Nashville, Tennessee at about 14 years of age with some other young men. (Vol. VI PCR. 920). Mr. Miller's judgment about people was so compromised that he thought that several of them were his friends. (Vol. VI PCR. 920). He was mistaken; "several of them got on together with several other boys . . . and that was the first time that he was raped." (Vol. VI PCR. 920). Mr. Miller explained to Dr. Caddy how there was an "adult prisoner who saw what was going on and did nothing to stop it." (Vol. VI PCR.

920). This became "a pivotal point" in Mr. Miller's life "because he realized that he couldn't really trust anybody." (Vol. VI PCR. 920). Mr. Miller was raped other times while incarcerated but never by people he thought were his friends. (Vol. VI PCR. 920-21).

Dr. Caddy found out that Mr. Miller spent some time in a prison in Texas and found this significant. (Vol. VI PCR. 921). While in Texas, Mr. Miller "came to understand that the Texas prisons were run as, basically, illegal operations to make a great deal of money for the men who ran the prison." (Vol. VI PCR. 921). While incarcerated there he was placed in solitary confinement without food or water by a senior prison officer. (Vol. VI PCR. 922). The officer went on vacation and Mr. Miller was left in confinement without food or water. (Vol. VI PCR. 922). After several weeks, Mr. Miller had to be sent to the hospital until he recovered from this deprivation. (Vol. VI PCR. 922). This was an extremely traumatic event that contributed to Mr. Miller's despising the system. (Vol. VI PCR. 922).

Another time in prison, "there was an altercation that took place between [Mr. Miller] and another prisoner while they were out working on some road gang or something of that nature." (Vol. VI PCR. 922-23). Mr. Miller was struck in the head with a pick axe by another inmate, knocking Mr. Miller to the ground. (Vol. VI PCR. 923).

Mr. Miller suffered great sexual trauma while incarcerated. As a young person in prison he suffered "protracted sexual abuse which affected Mr. Miller in many ways. (Vol. VI PCR. 924). Mr. Miller "made every conceivable effort to escape from prison . . and apparently did so on a number of occasions." (Vol. VI PCR. 924). Mr. Miller's "basic motivation [for escaping] was to avoid being raped. (Vol. VI PCR. 924). The repeated raping of Mr. Miller further developed his "hatred for men who would be sexual to him." (Vol. VI PCR. 924). By Miller's later teens he was having "dissociative experiences" which continued through many years. (Vol. VI PCR. 924). This was Mr. Miller's way of coping with some of the sexual and other trauma. (Vol. VI PCR. 925).

Mr. Miller explained to Dr. Caddy how the manslaughter that Mr. Miller was convicted of in the 1970s occurred. (Vol. VI PCR. 925). Dr. Caddy learned:

[T]hat Mr. Miller had -- he was living in Oregon at the time, and he was, um, trying to work, um, to create some life for himself. And he had actually met a woman, and this is probably the only woman in his life that he -- that really cared about him and that he felt that he loved.

At the time he was living in the home of a man who was, um -- who was gay but he was -- but Mr. Miller was very attracted to this woman and apparently the man decided that he wanted to have a sexual relationship with Mr. Miller and he sought out to undermine the relationship that Mr. Miller had or was hoping to have with this lady and he did so by telling the lady that Mr. Miller was a no good or that he had never -- he would never be capable of having a relationship with her; that, you know, he has had a long history of problems and the like. And he

basically persuaded this woman not to have anything to do with Mr. Miller.

And when -- when Mr. Miller understood that that's what happened, and that that -- that is, this man, in fact, told him that's what happened, um, Mr. Miller exploded and attacked the man. And that was the context in which that homicide was created.

(Vol. VI PCR 925-26).

Dr. Caddy also explained Mr. Miller's drug and alcohol history. (Vol. VI PCR 926). When he was in his early teens and not sleeping under houses he would often sleep in open cars. (Vol. VI PCR 926). While in an open car, he found a bottle of alcohol, thus beginning a pattern of alcohol use. (Vol. VI PCR 926). He soon started using a variety of drugs: LSD marijuana, cocaine or alcohol. (Vol. VI PCR 926-27). He was a polysubstance abuser and "not particularly discriminating." (Vol. VI PCR 927).

A lot of Mr. Miller's drug and alcohol abuse was to relieve his distress and "numb him out which character[ized] much of his existence." (Vol. VI PCR 927). Later, Mr. Miller "started inhaling various polyurethanes and various other products" including cleaning fluid. Mr. Miller inhaled cleaning products when he was incarcerated. (Vol. VI PCR 927). This use of inhalants caused Dr. Caddy concern. (Vol. VI PCR 927). Dr. Caddy reviewed Dr. Drew Edwards' trial testimony detailing Mr. Miller's extensive drug history and the effects it had on his life and mental health. (Vol. VI PCR 927). Dr. Caddy found that Mr. Miller was routinely self-medicating the pain he was suffering

with chemicals, drugs and alcohol. (Vol. VI PCR 927).

Dr. Caddy also evaluated Mr. Miller neuropsychologically. (Vol. VI PCR 927). As part of this evaluation Dr. Caddy administered a number of tests. Based on Dr. Caddy's evaluation and testing of Mr. Miller, Dr. Caddy recommended further testing through neuroimaging. (Vol. VI PCR 929). Dr. Caddy recommended such testing because it was clear that Mr. Miller was showing impaired functioning. (Vol. VI PCR 929). The PET Scan was reviewed by Dr. Frank Wood whom Dr. Caddy spoke with after Mr. Miller's PET Scan. (Vol. VI PCR 929). The PET Scan allowed Dr. Caddy to look at Mr. Miller's impairment from a different perspective and which indicated "significant impairment functioning and that some of that functioning was in the frontal area and that there was . . . meaningful and progressive deterioration likely to be taking place there," (Vol. VI PCR 930). Dr. Caddy's opinion in this regard also considered Mr. Miller's history of drug abuse and head injury. (Vol. VI PCR 930).

Neuropsychologically, Dr. Caddy concluded that Mr. Miller:

has an impaired brain function and that it is likely that his brain functioning has deteriorated abnormally over time and probably as a direct consequence of the impact of the substances that he has used, especially the inhalants. But that it's reasonable that a part of that process, at least as it's taken place, is a result of various times that he's had head injury, and in particular the time when he was knocked senseless by a pick axe.

(Vol. VI PCR 930-31).

Dr. Caddy also addressed the relevance of Antisocial Personality Disorder and its meaning for understanding Mr. Miller. Dr. Caddy avoided the simple explanation and explained in detail what the experts at trial inadequately offered to the jury as "mitigation."

Well, I think that it's very easy to look at a person who's had a history of being a thief, basically, and a drug user. Um, and recurrently in detention and simply labeled him as being an antisocial personality disorder person.

And then of course, then when we add these other two crimes, it makes it really easy to say, oh, my goodness. Of course he has antisocial personality disorder and that explains his conduct. The only problem with that is it's really circular.

And what we have in this man is a personality that was formed out of survival and the -- if what we are looking at is, um, the evolution of personality, um, we need to be understanding that people who will have antisocial personality disorder, for example, start exhibiting it at typically by age 14, 15 and certainly by 16.

Now, in Mr. -- in Mr. Miller's case, um, he -- his life was being shaped from age 4, um, by the reality of stealing to survive. Um, and/or trespassing to survive and/or hanging around with anybody who he could hang around with, um, in order to be able to get something, um, sometimes 8 attention, sometimes food, sometimes shelter.

Um, it's -- it's difficult to simply say, well, we'll just label him a sociopath because of what he had to do to survive. There are people who do -- who conduct themselves with great sociopathy but have five greater resources to work from socially, interpersonally and familiarly than he did, and they end up sociopaths. So

I think that there's -- there needs to be some real recognition that this man really didn't simply evolve into a sociopath. What he evolved into was a person who is dissocial. And what I mean by dissocial is he had no social context for robbery. It was all about survival. So I think that his personality structure was much more complicated than simply, um, a nice, easy label based on criminal behavior.

* * *

Now, let me say I'm not objecting to the notion that you could make that label. I'm simply making the point that it's a much more complicated issue.

(Vol. VI PCR 931-32).

On cross-examination the State asked Dr. Caddy about validity and manipulation. Dr. Caddy explained that there were not any issues with the testing or his evaluation in this area. Dr. Caddy did not interview any of the other experts from the trial. (Vol. VI PCR. 946). The State's questioning in this area failed to mention the costs such a practice would entail and that it would be relatively meaningless. On redirect, Dr. Caddy made clear that many of the prison records involved Mr. Miller speaking with different governmental health workers as part of the parole process. (Vol. VI PCR 950). Dr. Caddy acknowledged the obvious, there is an incentive for somebody in the position Mr. Miller was in seeking parole to show "that they are functioning as normal as possible." (Vol. VI PCR 950).

After the postconviction court granted Mr. Miller's motion for a PET scan, he was transported to the National PET Scan Center where a PET Scan was completed on his brain. CCRC-M hired

Dr. Frank Wood to review the PET Scan, one of the foremost recognized and respected experts in the field of neuropsychology, more specifically the PET scan, to discuss his opinions and findings regarding Mr. Miller's PET scan. Dr. Wood testified at the evidentiary hearing. (Vol. VI R. 864).

Dr. Frank Wood

Dr. Wood received a B.A. from Wake Forest with honors and distinction in Psychology from Wake Forest. (Vol. VI R. 865). He then went to Southeastern Baptist Theological Seminary and was ordained as a Baptist minister. (Vol. VI R. 865). Dr. Wood returned to Wake Forest and received a Masters degree in Psychology and went to Duke University from which he received a PhD in Psychology. (Vol. VI R. 866). Dr. Wood received a number of large grants that allowed him to conduct very important research in brain imaging including Pet Scans and MRIs.

Dr. Wood is a practicing neuropsychologist and a Baptist preacher. (Vol. VI R. 864). He currently is a Professor Emeritus at Wake Forest University. For thirty-five years Dr. Wood was on the faculty of the Wake Forest University School of Medicine and a full-professor. Although he is a neuropsychologist, Dr. Wood was an associate of the Department of Radiology and collaborated with the department of radiology. (Vol. VI R. 864). Following his retirement from Wake Forest, Dr. Wood was a professor Liverpool Hope University in England. (Vol. VI R.

865). He also has a standing honorary appointment as a professor of behavioral medicine at the Nelson Mandela School of Medicine in Durban, South Africa. (Vol. VI R. 864). Dr. Wood is licensed by North Carolina as an Independent Practicing Psychologist and as a provider of diagnosis and treatment for brain-injured children and young adults. (Vol. VI R. 866).

Dr. Wood has published "75 or 80" scholarly articles, of which 53 or 54 were peer reviewed, mostly concentrating on neuroimaging, although "not exclusively." (Vol. VI R. 869). He has published on "brain blood flow characteristics" of mental illness and "methodological work on how to measure PET scans and get reliable and accurate results." (Vol. VI R. 869). Dr. Wood was a pioneer in the use of PET scans and participated in the ground breaking Florida case of Hoskins.

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