TGEGKXGF. '33 147 14235'2; 5: 56. 'Iqj p'C0'Vqo cukpq. 'Ergtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-516

LIONEL MILLER

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

represented Dempsey in the past, Miller failed to show that a probation violation was filed before the trial began or that the information was in the attorney file. He completely fails to argue what, if any, prejudice resulted by not presenting this "impeachment" information as required under Strickland. He offers no facts or arguments on how counsel could have discovered the information on Dempsey. Consequently, Miller only presents the claim in a conclusory manner and fails to demonstrate prejudice. Conclusory allegations are legally insufficient on their face and may be denied summarily. See Atwater v. State, 788 So. 2d 223, 229 (Fla. 2001) (stating "defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden.") Freeman, 761 So. 2d at 1061 (opining "defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden."); Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998)(stating that although courts are encouraged to conduct evidentiary hearings, a summary/conclusory claim "is insufficient to allow the trial court to examine the specific allegations against the record").

The standards applicable to the <u>Brady</u> aspect of this claim are as follows. First, to establish a <u>Brady</u> claim, the defendant must show that the evidence was material and favorable. Next, he must show that the State willfully or inadvertently withheld

it. Finally, he must show that he was prejudiced by the State's withholding of the favorable evidence. Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82, 119 S.Ct. 1936 (1999). To prove prejudice, the defendant must demonstrate "a reasonable probability that had the suppressed evidence been disclosed, the jury would have reached a different verdict. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Rhodes v. State, 986 So.2d 501, 508 (Fla.2008) (quoting Green v. State, 975 So.2d 1090, 1102 (Fla.2008)); see Strickler, 527 U.S. at 290, 119 S.Ct. 1936 ("[T]he question is whether 'the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict.' " (quoting Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 435, 115 S.Ct. 1555 (1995))). The evidence is material "if there is any reasonable likelihood" that it "could have affected" the jury's verdict. Id. at 506 (quoting United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 103, 96 S.Ct. 2392 (1976)). A Giglio violation is demonstrated when the prosecutor knowingly presented or failed to correct false testimony that was material to the case. Guzman v. State, 868 So.2d 498, 505 (Fla.2003). The evidence is material "if there is any reasonable likelihood" that it "could have affected" the jury's verdict. Id. at 506 (quoting United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 103, 96 S.Ct. 2392 (1976)). Thus, the "State, as the beneficiary of the Giglio violation, bears the burden to prove that the presentation of false testimony at trial was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Id.

Miller argues that Dempsey should have been impeached after he said that he did not rob people and wanted nothing to do with Miller's plan. (T. 15:873-75) Dempsey was impeached with his multiple convictions, including stealing from his mother, and probationary status. (Id. 871-72, 913) Miller contends that Dempsey could have been impeached with his conduct demanding keys and money from his mother and for his attempts to rob Hood, matters completely ancillary to the substance of his testimony and the issues before the jury. Dempsey testified that he did not want to rob the lady and did not participate in that robbery. Those statements were supported by the testimonies of Haydon and Ramee who said that there was only one assailant, identified by Haydon as Miller. Miller himself in his confession also said that he acted alone. The information Miller purports would impeach Dempsey would not have been relevant to the issues involved in the trial, whether it was Miller who attacked, rob, and killed Smith. This information about Dempsey allegedly trying to rob his mother and Hood would likely not have been admissible in the trial at all since these incidents did not result in convictions and, while Miller might argue that it would go to the truthfulness of Dempsey, the jury already heard that he had been convicted multiple times for theft and drug related crimes thereby making these allegations more prejudicial than probative. See Fla. Rules of Evid. §§ 90.609, 90.610, 90.403, & 90.404; Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741 (Fla. 1982) (evidence

of particular acts of misconduct cannot be introduced to impeach the credibility of a witness.).

Miller failed to prove that Dempsey had ever tried to rob either his mother or Hood and failed to prove whether a probation violation regarding a robbery even existed. Finnegan testified that Dempsey was never violated for driving his mother's car without her permission; he was violated for a dirty drug test and for absconding only. (PCR 6:820-21, 23) Dempsey was required to report any contacts with law enforcement to his probation officer so he had to relate that he was a witness in a criminal trial to his probation officer. (PCR 6:819) Mrs. Dempsey flatly stated that her son never took anything from her by force. (PCR 6:826) She said that she routinely let him drive her car but did not want him to do so while his license was suspended so she tried to prevent him by calling the police; she hoped that would stop him. (PCR 6:828, 830-32) Dempsey never struck or shoved his mother nor did he threaten her. He asked her for money and she simply said no. She let go of the keys and he left. (PCR 6:834-36)

Hood testified that she disliked Dempsey and that he was a freeloader at times.

During the period when he and Miller were at her house, she was high on drugs all the time and could not specifically recall individual incidents of Dempsey robbing her since the drugs affected her memory and perception of reality. She recalled going

after him with a baseball bat on two occasions when he did not pay "rent" or ate too much of her soup; she said she used the bat because she was irritated with him. He was scared of it and never struck back at her. She also stated that she moved shortly after the murder without telling anyone where she was; about a year later, before the trial, she left the state. (PCR 6:846-62)

Neither Hood nor Mrs. Dempsey could have been used to impeach Dempsey on his statement. Hood was unreliable and not a credible witness given her drug use and vague allegations. Neither the defense nor the State had any reason to suspect that she had any information relevant to the trial much less possible impeachment of Dempsey for an unasked for and unanticipated comment. She also was moving around and out of state during the preparation for trial so that, even if the defense had a reason to interview her, it would have been quite difficult to track her down. Mrs. Dempsey plainly said that her son never tried to rob her and that the incident was not a big deal to her. She was aggravated with him so she told his probation officer when he called. Finally, the probation officer clearly did not consider the incident anything other than a family argument since he did nothing to file a probation violation based upon it. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to discover these incidents, especially since they were so minor and not appropriate material to impeach Dempsey with even if counsel could have guessed that Dempsey might deny robbing people.

Miller has failed to meet his burden under <u>Strickland</u>. Counsel is not ineffective for failing to pursue a non-meritorious issue. <u>King</u>, 555 So.2d at 357-58; <u>Teffeteller</u>, 734 So.2d at 1020.

Miller has not shown that this information is material or that it prejudiced his trial as required under both Brady and Giglio since it was cumulative, irrelevant to the substance of Dempsey's testimony, and would not have affected the outcome of the trial. He failed to present any evidence at the hearing that there was a probation violation in existence for this action or that the prosecution knew about it. Additionally, even if the probation officer's notation in a daily log could be construed as knowledge by the State of this information, since it was not exculpatory and did not provide any proper impeachment material, it does not meet the requirements under Brady or Giglio. Furthermore, Dempsey's testimony was not false or deceptive, especially regarding Miller and whether he had been given any consideration by the State for his testimony. Miller insinuates without a basis that the only reason Dempsey told his probation officer about his pending trial testimony was an attempt to curry favor, a supposition that Finnegan refuted. (PCR 18)

Nor has Miller shown any prejudice by the jury not hearing these uncharged allegations against Dempsey. As noted above, the jury did hear that Dempsey had been convicted multiple times for theft and drug charges so these would not have

undermined his credibility. Additionally, there was a wealth of evidence of Miller's guilt presented at the trial and the outcome would definitely not have changed if this information had been provided to the jury detailed in the claims above and incorporated here. Miller has failed to show the necessary prejudice under the standards of <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u> as well as failing to meet the requirements under <u>Strickland</u>. Competent, substantial evidence supports the lower court's denial.

Miller also failed to prove that there was any actual conflict of interest with Hooper and Henderson representing Miller. In order to show a violation of the right to conflict-free counsel, Miller must "establish that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." Hunter v. State, 817 So.2d 786, 791 (Fla.2002); see also Bouie v. State, 559 So.2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 1990)(same). In Hunter, the Court explained that a lawyer suffers from an actual conflict of interest when he or she "actively represent[s] conflicting interests." Id. A defendant must identify specific evidence in the record that suggests that his interests were compromised in order to demonstrate an actual conflict. Mungin v. State, 932 So.2d 986 (Fla. 2006). "A possible, speculative or merely hypothetical conflict is 'insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction.' Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 350." Id. at 1001. ""[U]ntil a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective

assistance.' <u>Cuyler</u> at 350. If a defendant successfully demonstrates the existence of an actual conflict, the defendant must also show that this conflict had an adverse effect upon his lawyer's representation." <u>Hunter</u> at 792; <u>Cuyler v. Sullivan</u>, 446 U.S. 335, 350 (1980).

In <u>Hunter</u> the Court rejected defendant's allegation that an actual conflict existed because a State witness was formerly represented by the same public defender's office that represented the defendant. Since trial counsel was unaware of the public defender's previous representation of the witness and did not even know about the witness's criminal background, there was no actual conflict. <u>Id.</u> at 791-793. In that decision the Court relied on <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 874 (Fla.1987) where it concluded that counsel was not required "to make inquiry into the matter in order to be considered reasonably effective and within the range of normal, professional competence." <u>McCrae</u> at 877. In <u>Bouie</u> the Florida Supreme Court found no conflict where the Public Defender's office represented the witness to Bouie's confession on the day he heard the confession but where that representation ceased before he testified at trial. <u>Bouie</u> at 1115.

An actual conflict of interest that adversely affects counsel's performance violates the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. *Larzelere v. State*, 676 So.2d 394, 403 (Fla.1996). "Nevertheless, a defendant's fundamental right to conflict-free counsel can be waived." *Id.* at 403. For a waiver to be valid, the record must

show that the defendant (1) was aware of the conflict of interest, (2) realized the conflict could affect the defense, and (3) knew of the right to obtain other counsel. *Id*.

McWatters, 36 So.3d 613, 635. In McWatters there were two claims of conflict of counsel, one similar to the one presented by Miller and another actual conflict of counsel. Trial counsel in McWatters represented a prosecution witness numerous times in the past and was contacted by the witness during his representation of the defendant as well. The trial court conducted an inquiry of McWatters where he waived the conflict. This Court did the same with Miller where the conflict was explained to him and he knowingly waived it. Under McWatters Miller's waiver is valid and binding. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)(holding for issue to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted below).

Miller failed to demonstrate, as required by the case law, that there was either an actual conflict or that there was adverse performance by his counsel as a result. This situation is similar to the second one presented in McWatters. There the second chair was an attorney at the Public Defender's Office when it represented the witness. He went into private practice shortly before he was appointed as McWatters's counsel. He, like trial counsel here, "never had any personal interaction with the witnesses ..., never participated in their cases, and had no confidential information

about those witnesses." Id. This Court found that there was no actual conflict of interest. Oddly, Miller argues that his trial counsel should have dug through the public defender's closed files to find confidential information with which to impeach Dempsey, clearly a violation of professional ethics at the least. Miller's trial counsel was in the same position as an attorney who never had contact with the witness. Hooper said that he alerted the court to the issue simply to be safe given that it was a serious case. There was no actual conflict and he attacked Dempsey as vigorously as he did anyone. He did not know Dempsey nor was he even in the office when it represented him. (PCR 7:1133-35) Hooper has never in his career subpoenaed the probation file of a witness. (PCR 7:1136-38) At most, this was a potential conflict of interest, not an actual one. The record supports the denial of relief. Furthermore, he fails to point to specific evidence in the record showing where his interests were compromised. Trial counsel challenged not only Dempsey but all the State witnesses in defending Miller. This Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT V

TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S VOIR DIRE QUESTIONS, ITS PENALTY PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT, OR TO THE COURT GIVING THE STANDARD PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS. (Restated)

Miller argues that the lower court improperly denied his claim that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object and ask for curative instructions when the Court and the State allegedly mis-stated the law regarding the juror's weighing of the aggravators and mitigators in reaching their recommendation. He specifically points to a number of instances during voir dire where he argues the Court and the State misinformed the jury on the law and in the penalty phase where the Court allegedly misstated the law in its opening instructions, where the State misstated the law in its closing argument, and that the standard jury instruction on this issue was improper. He also contends that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to give an opening argument in the penalty phase and for using variations of the word "weight" in his closing rather than relying on and arguing mercy for the defendant. The State still contends that these claims are all procedurally barred since they could have been raised on direct appeal but were not. Miller presented no evidence on his sub-claims regarding any of the penalty phase arguments or instructions and has thus waived them. Owen v. State, 773 So.2d 510 (Fla. 2000) (affirming denial of relief where defendant waived claim when he failed to produce any evidence in support of it). On the issue of ineffectiveness of counsel, Miller's claims are refuted by the record and he failed to demonstrate either deficient performance by his trial counsel or prejudice. The court properly denied relief after the evidentiary hearing.

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